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Ann Zulawski

The National Revolution
and Bolivia in the 1950s
What Did Che See>

To read Che Guevara’s diaries of his Latin Ame
19508 Is to witness his transition from a middl
;ng rj(:n r.he cheap to a serious supporter of rey
Lr);v ]t.e tilme he rffaches N_iexico in 1954. It seems logical that in this
rave mgh education Bolivia wouyld have had special significance
Since, when Guevara arrived, the cou i
_ ved, Ny was in the throes of 3
;‘volgglonary transformation, and it was to Bolivia that he returned
1966 to set upa guerrilla base. Yet although Guevara clearly drew
s?lme hconclutslons fibout the nature of revolutionary processes from
.w at he saw in Bolivia, it is striking how little ime he actually spent
in ﬂ1|e co]unu'y during his road trip, and how little the country’s
social reality and political history j i
: ry influenced h
e 20 p Im when he went back
rive(ju.ev;r:}afld. his traveling companion Carlos “Calica” Ferrer ar-
1n Bolvia in July 953, A litte more than ayear before, in April
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rived in Bo?ivia iln July 1953. A little more than a year before, in April
119 52, a nationalist revolution Jed by a reformist sector of m;.- middle
class had overthrown the political elite that represenced the coun-
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much of his time in La Paz visiing members of the Argentine ex-
patriate community.*

In this article I review the political and social history that created
both a revolutionary situation in Bolivia and the conditions for that
revolution to be undermined. I conclude that Guevara's ignorance
of, or willful disregard for, the country's situation in the 19508
ultmately contributed to his defeat there in 1¢67. This conclusion
does not simply result from hindsight more than half a century after
the fact. While some of what is now known about Bolivia in the
1950s derives from recent scholarship, other foreign travelets who
visited the country at about the same tme as Guevara left remark-
ably insightful accounts of the reality of Bolivian life. I compare
some of these descriptions to Guevara’s and will speculate about his
seeming myopia of lack of interest in the country. Why did he “see”
less than other visitors in the same period? A postscript briefly
discusses Guevara's legacy in Bolivia today.

Revolution or Reformism?

The general impression one has reading the relatively little that
Guevara wrote about Bolivia during his visit in 1953 is that for the
short amount of time he put in, he managed to draw quite accurate
conclusions about the political sentiments of the middle and upper
classes, as well as about the nature of the MNR government. He
importantly observed that a populist, multclass coalition like the
MN R was unlikely to produce revolutionary cbange and that con-
trolling armed force would prove key to controlling the state. As he
wrote to his friend Tita Infante: “The MNR is a conglomerate with
three more or less clear tendencies: the Right represented by Siles

" Smazn rhe vice oresident and a hero of the revolution; the Centre
wrote to his friend Tita Infante: “The MNR is a conglomerate with

three more or less clear tendeneies: the Right represented by Siles
‘Suazo, the vice president and a2 hero of the revolution; the Centre
represented by Paz Estenssoro, more slippery but probably as right
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does not simply result from hindsight more than half a century after
the fact. While some of what is now known about Bolivia in the
1950s detives from recent scholarship, other foreign travelers who
visited the country at about the same tme as Guevara left remark-
ably insightful accounts of the reality of Bolivian life. I compare
some of these descriptions to Guevara’s and will speculate about his
seeming myopia ot lack of interest in the country. Why did he “see”
less than other visitors in the same period? A postscript briefly
discusses Guevara's legacy in Bolivia today.
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of his experience with Peronism in Argentina. He had seen Juan
Perén .buiId his power base in the working class (2 la Lechfn) and
was critical of Perén’s agempt to form a coalition between workers
and sectors of the capitalist class. It was not farfetched to imagine
that t1.1e Jeaders of the MNR wanted 1o emulate many aspecgof
Peronism, including taking power through a military coup. In 1945
the party briefly governed in alliance with the military, and man
MNR leaders continued to see the army as a more reliat;le ally r.ha:
workﬁrs Or peasants. However, the comparison with the Argentine
e.xper{ence may have caused Guevara to underestimate the Bolivian
snfu.al:lon’s radical potential. Rather than coming to power through a
[I::clilmr; coupland then cultivating working-class support, the MN R
to first cultivate that supy i i

oot upport foran armed insurrection an_d then

. With respect to Bolivia’s white minority Guevara wrote in his
iary:

The “well-to-do,” refined people are shocked by what is happenin
and complain bitterly about the new importance conferred on lndian§
andl mestizos, but in all of them ] thought I could detect a spark of
natonalist enthusiasm for some of what the government has done
No one denies that it js necessary to end the state of affairg syr-n-
bolized by the power of the three tin-mine bosses, and young people

think this has been a step forward in the s
e to mak
wealth more equal.? oasieto makepeopleand

I-.Ie.re Guevara reflects the middle- and upper middle-class oppo-
sition to the monopoly of the biggest tin miners and the sense
that Bolivia’s resources should in some way be nationalized. Ip
the early 19508 many people also believed that for Bolivia to.be-

Et?:t]eﬁa ;e_s;:ected, modern nation, a greater degree of social and
0ilvia's resources should in some way be nationalized. In

the early 19505 many people also believed that for Bolivia to be-
come z respected, modern nation, a greater degree of social and

ecoml)rmc equality was inevitable, perhaps even desirable. Young
mennbepadey el guTeLtu W ALIANCE WILH the military, and many

MNR leaders continued to see the army as a more reliable ally than
workérs Or peasants. However, the comparison with the Argentine
e.xper{ence may have caused Guevara to underestimate the Bolivian
snfu.al:lon’s radical potential, Rather than coming to power through a
military coup and then cultivating working-class support, the MNRr
had to first cultivate that support for an armed insurrection and then
try to control it '

. With respect to Bolivia’s white minority Guevara wrote in his
ary:




century counterparts of the “refined people” Gufzvaxa re'fer‘s to feel
deeply ambivalent about living in a country in which the indigenous
majority has its rightful share of political power.

Although he makes many acute observations, (:‘-uevara seems-to
be just passing through Bolivia as an educated tourist, He and .C‘ahca
visit the semitropical Yungas valleys near La Paz and Lake Titicaca
and the Isla de! Sol (both common side trips from the capital).'Th'ey
hang outin cafés on La Paz’s central boulevard, enjoy the hospltfallty
of the Argentine exile Isafas Nogués, and have anﬂforous relation-
ships with young women. The two do not even pa:u.cularly seem to
be roughing it: the account lacks the details of daily struggles so
common in other parts of Guevara’s diary.* .

In fact, the polidcal situation thar Guevara encountered in 1953
was shaped by the contention among the different grf)ups formlflig
the revolutionary coalition of the previous yeat. These included mili-
tant workers and peasants as well as the middle-class %‘eformers
who through co-optation and repression attempted to gain control
of the revolutionary process. o

Various aspects of the Bolivian social and political situation in the
1940s and early 1g50s make it possible to argue rl.lat the country Wa_s
moving toward a revolutionary situation. These included the pohlu-
cal and social ferment in the country after the Chaco War with
Paraguay (1932~35}, the existence of a radical workers’ movement,
especially among the tin miners, and a long history of peasant strug-
gle for land and citizenship rights. _

The Chaco War proved a military and political disaster for Bo-
livia. Provoked by Bolivia,® the war with Paraguay sharpened the
contradictions of a society divided by class and ethn%cit'y, repro-
ducing existing social hierarchies in the army. The majority of the

front-line troops comprised Aymara- or Quechua-speaking peasan{l;‘f
CONCraaicuons OI a soclety divided Dy class and ethniclty, repr

ducing existing social hierarchies in the army. The majority of the
front-line troops comprised Aymara- or Quechua-speaking peasants

and workers who often walked most of the way to the frontwmhc?ut
e atane Bnmd smpan on aloskivne T OUKnpan o amalles gt owa,

hang out in cafés on La Paz’s central boulevard, enjoy the hospit?lity
of the Argentine exile Isafas Nogués, and have anﬂfomus relatioh-
ships with young women. The two do not even pa:u.cularly seem to
be roughing it: the account lacks the details of daily struggles so
common in other parts of Guevara’s diary.* .

In fact, the polidcal situation that Guevara encountered in 1953
was shaped by the contention among the different grf)ups form1f1.g
the revolutionary coalition of the previous year. These included mili-
tant workers and peasants as well as the middle-class Feformersf

ever more ground to Paraguay, President Daniel Salamanca was
forced to resign. The execrable conditions of front-line troops and
the apparent incompetence of the general staff became a national
scandal. Some outright troop mutinjes occurred, while at other
times officers had to watch powerlessly as their men deserted while
looking for water or something to eat,® '

In the aftermath of the war there was a repudiation of the tradj-
tional political class, and centrist partes adopted some of the rheto-
ric of the Left in an effort to remain relevant. Their experiences in the
conflict had made even some middle- and upper middle-class men
recognize the gross inequalities in their society as the poorest peo-
ple had been asked to make the greatest sacrifices for the homeland.
Furtherimore, as Guevara reported, many people in Bolivia, includ-
ing some of the prosperous and prominent, resented that three
firms (Patifio, Hochschild, and Aramayo), all with close ties to the
government, controlled 8o percent of the tin industry, in turn re-
sponsible for 8o percent of national exports.'! The three major tin
industrialists further faced resentment for investing abroad and
denationalizing key sectors of their enterprises, '

In the post-Chaco ferment new radical working-class parties
formed, especially the Trotskyist Partido Obrero Revolucionario
(POR) and the more Moscow-oriented Partido de |z [zquierda Revo-
lucionaria (p1R). In 1941 the group that was to lead the revolution of
1952, the MN R, was organized by a group of middle-class university
graduates who had fought in the war. They subscribed to a rather
undefined nationalism opposing government collusion with the
major tin producers and foreign control of the Bolivian economy.

If these parties formed and artracted popular support after 1936,
they were not without antecedents or nacural allies. Bolivia had a
considerable tradition of worker oreanizarian Uintnsd mallu. abusy !

If these parties formed and ataacted populat support after 1936,
they were not without antecedents or natural allies. Bolivia had a
considerable tradition of worker organization. Historically the in-

dustrial union movement in Bolivia has been associated with the
“mTors e ewduian Vi Lie wal LOETe was 2 repudiation of the tradi-

tional political elass, and centrist parties adopted some of the rheto-
ric of the Left in an effort to remain relevant, Their experiences in the
conflict had made even some middle- and upper middle-class men
recognize the gross inequalities in their society as the poorest peo-
ple had been asked to make the greatest sacrifices for the homeland.
Furtherimore, as Guevara reported, many people in Bolivia, includ-
ing some of the prosperous and prominent, resented that three
firms (Patifio, Hochschild, and Aramayo), all with close ties to the
government, controlled 8o percent of the tin industv in ten re.




cuperate, reorganize, and continue to press their demands for better
wages and improved working condidons.*
While the MNR influenced and strongly encouraged the forma-
tion of the national miners’ confederation, the Federacién Sindical
de Trabajadores Mineros de Bolivia (FSTMB), in 1943, the union in
1946 adopted a radical program for struggle known as the “Tesis de
Pulacayo.” Influenced by the poR, the thesis was based on the
Trotskyist conception of raising strategic transitional demands (na-
tonalization of the mines, agrarian reform, control of the mines by
the workers) that would educate the union rank and fle about what
they could realistically expect from their employers and the state. It
is worth mentioning thatwhile the drafters of the “Tesis” believed in
the ultimate necessity of armed struggle to create a socialist Bolivia,
their approach contrasted sharply with the foro theory later em-
braced by Guevara, since it raised demands designed to win broad
working-class support. On the theoretical level the thesis classified
Bolivia as a backward capitalist country, not a feudal one, and there-
fore maintained that the tasks usually associated with the bourgeois-
democratic revolution would be accomplished by the working class
(whose vanguard was the miners) in coalition with the peasantry and
the petty bourgeoisie as “a phase” of a socialist revolution.™
Modern peasant political organization in Bolivia goes back to the
late nineteenth century, when indigenous people organized to keep
or regain communally held lands threatened by the liberal laws
privatizing land. Initially Indian communities and expropriated com-
uneros found ways to make alliances with opposition political groups
to regain their lands.'* While these alliances generally proved un-
satisfactory for rural people in the tong run,’ they nonetheless
demonstrate that from the late 1800s indigenous people thought

strategically about how to advance their interests and did not, as an
sdudtavily twl [Uldl peupic dil ure ey tul, ™" Hhey NDUNETNELSSS

demonstrate that from the late 180o0s indigenous people thought
strategically about how to advance their interests and did not, as an
MN R minister of educatior claimed in the 1g50s, “inhabit a herme-
fir wnrld inarraceihlo rathe white and rtha macrizn 717

Trotskyist conception of raising strategic transitional demands (na-
tonalization of the mines, agrarian reform, control of the mines by
the workers) that would educate the union rank and fle about what
they could realistically expect from their employers and the state. It
is worth mentioning that while the drafters of the “Tesis" believed in
the ultimate necessity of armed struggle to create a socialist Bolivia,
their approach contrasted sharply with the fore theory later em-
braced by Guevara, since it raised demands designed to win broad
working-class support. On the theoretical level the thesis classified
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During the Chaco War alarmed hacendados and townspeople
reported protests and even uprisings by colonos and members of
nearby Indian communities all over the countryside.' The reasons
fcfr the discontent were multiple: communities that had gladly con-
tributed food to the war effort at izs beginning later saw themselves
well-nigh expropriated of animals and provisions by the authorities
The abusive military conscription of ryral workers, who often were‘
sup.posed to be exempt, and the usurping of lands by haciendas
wh‘lle community members were off at war provoked a wave of
res1sran<:fe that some political authorities attempted 1o blame on
communist agitators or the Paraguayan government, ®

I_n the post-Chaco period peasant organization became more co-
ordinated as rural leaders now had contacts with students, union
lead.ers, and members of the newly formed radical and re’formiSt
parties. In 1943 the MNR joined with 2 group of dissident arm
ofﬁc_ers 10 overthrow the conservarive president Enrique Peﬁarzmday
putting the army major Gualberto Villarroel in office, During Villar-,
roel’s term a National Indigenous Congress was held in La Paz. Yer
the conference’s outcome was controlled by the governmentand. fell
far .short of meeting the demands for agrarian reform raised b
hacienda workers and community members, Still, it set important
prec_edents. Its final document outlawed pongueaje (unpaid personal
service demanded of hacienda colonos) and mandated the establish-
ment of schools on all haciendas, S
YL.JIfuroel was overthrown in 1946 by an alliance of raditional

pol!nmans and the pro-Soviet Partido de |a Izquierda Revolucio-
na‘nzli. After his assassination at the hands of a mob outside the
Pre_mdentia] palace, Villarroel was murned into a martyr by man
indigenous people, a fallen hero 1o be vindicated by the MNP)i Wit}):
the d_emjs? of Villarroel. harendadne Gssdarit ooy uul.a’l;lt.' tne
!)re_sxdenual palace, Villarroel was nurned into a martyr by man
indigenous people, a fallen hero 1o be vindicated by the Mui W'd!:
the demise of Villarroel, hacendados, freed of hjs ot
to reestablish total control in the countrysidé. As
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groups or sought to make alliances with them. If Guevara had
known a little more about the nature of popular movements in the
country he might have seen that the situation had more radical
potential than he initially assumed and possibly reconsidered his
strategy and alliances when returning in the 1g6os. If he had known
more about the means by which the MN R gradually undermined its
more militant allies, and what that could mean for future revoly-
tionary efforts, he might in fact have decided not to return at all.

Skillful maneuvering by the MNR and U.S. Cold War policies
gradually put a brake on the radical wing of the revolutionary move-
ment. Although the MN R initially favored alliances with the military
and even the traditional parties, rather than the workers and peas-
ants, sectors of their leadership evenrually realized the importance
of developing a mass base. To do this the party successfully under-
cut the Marxist parties by adopting strategic points of their pro-
grams (nationalization of the mines and agrarian reform). Once in
power, the MNR managed to deliver on some of its promises to
peasants and workers and then to neutralize these groups through
clientelism, compromise, foot dragging—and repression when the
other measures did not work. That Bolivia’s main marlket for its tin
was the United States further limited the country’s possibilities for
nationalist action.

A major MNR effort to cultivate a mass base took place with
the miners' union (FSTMB), which the party had helped to cre-
ate. As Guevara noticed, the mine union president Juan Lechin
Oquendo was an extremely astute and charismaric leader, though
frequently guilty of opportunism. His political savwy and personal
appeal seem to have swayed even many of the most militant labor
leaders. When pressed to do so by radicals in the union, Lechin

sometimes showed independence from the centrist MNR leaders,
appeal seeml IO nave swayed even many or the most militant labor

leaders. When pressed to do so by radicals in the union, Lechin
sometimes showed independence from the centrist MNR leaders,
but once the MNR held power, he also frequently took on the role of
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tionary efforts, he might in fact have decided not to return at all.
Skillful maneuvering by the MNR and U.S. Cold War policies
gradually put a brake on the radical wing of the revolutionary move-
ment. Although the M~ R initially favored alliances with the military
and even the traditional parties, rather than the workers and peas-
ants, sectors of their leadership evenrally realized the importance
of developing a mass base. To do this the party successfully under-
cut the Marxist parties by adopting strategic points of their pro-
grams (nationalization of the mines and agrarian reform). Once in

candidate, the MN R presented a program that in effect undercut the
appeal of its left-wing rivals. For the first time it called for the
nationalization of the mines, an agrarian reform, and universal suf-
frage,* What the party meant by the first two, and how it would carry
out these measures, were to be issues of major contention later, but
finally the MN R had laid outa program addressing the country’s key
problems and able to attract a majority of the population.

Although the MNR won the presidential election in 1951, Paz
Estenssoro did not have an absolute majority and the final outcome
should have been decided in congress. However, the military, sup-
ported by the major mining interests, staged a coup and Urrio-
lagoitia turned the government over to a military junta headed by
General Hugo Ballivian.

In 1952 the MNR finally led a successful revolution. But even in
this effort sectors of the party still hoped to receive significant mili-
tary support. The party’s right wing even envisioned a joint MNR-
military government that would bypass Paz Estenssoro, who had
just won the election. In the end the majority of the military re-
mained loyal to the Ballivian government, and armed factory work-
ers and miners were responsible for the revolt’s success.?® Unlike
the military coup in Argentina in 1943 that marked the beginning of
Peron’s ascendancy, the shift to power for the MmN ® had occurred in
a way that the center-right of the party had not anticipated and did
not support: they had been pushed into office by the armed workers.
This fact made it imperative for the new government to find ways to
bring the working class and the peasantry under party control.

Shortly after Paz Estenssoro’s inauguration, a national labor con-
federation was founded. The MNR supported the creation of the
Confederacién Obrera Boliviana (coB), probably hoping that it

would be able to make clients of militant workers in a manner
tederation was founded. The MN R supported the creation of the

Confederacién Obrera Boliviana (coB), probably hoping that it
would be able to make clients of militant workers in a manner

similar to the Mexican or Argentine government. Yet although the
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Although the MNR won the presidential election in 1951, Paz
Estenssoro did not have an absolute majority and the final outcome
should have been decided in congress. However, the military, sup-
ported by the major mining interests, staged a coup and Urrio-
lagoitia turned the government over to a military junta headed by
General Hugo Ballivian.

In 1952 the MNR finally led a successful revolution. But even in
this effort sectors of the party still hoped to receive significant mili-
tary support. The party’s right wing even envisioned a joint MNR-




army or people’s militias such as those that had put the MNR
in power.

While Paz Estenssoro talked about studying the possibilities of
nationalizing the mines, the coOR called for expropriation without
compensation and worker co-management of the new state-owned
enterprises. The MN R undercut this radical challenge in a variety of
ways, most importantly by stalling and making coB representatives
{particularly Lechin) complicit in governmentdecisions. During this
period government officials stridently repudiated the radicalism of
the COB as communist internatonalism. In the end the MNR took
over the mines and ultimately paid the companies 27 million dollars
in compensanon. Rather than with workers' conmrol of the mines,
the FsTMR ended up with two representatives on the Compafiia
Minera Boliviana (COM1BOL} board, but these representatives were
neither eiected by nor accountable to the workers.*

With respect to the army, while those on the Left pushed for
people’s milicas, and the government symbolically closed the mili-
tary academy, Paz Estenssoro actually invited U.S. military advisers
into the country and opened a new air force academy in Santa Cruz,
Military buildup with U.S. support proceeded apace, with several of
the officers trained in the new facilities eventually becoming leaders
of military coups that overthrew elected governments.”

Of course the MN R government had the United States to contend
with, and Paz Estenssoro and Herndn Siles Suazo, his vice presi-
dent, were at pains to convince the U.S. embassy that theirs was a
natdonalist, not a communist, movement. During the deliberations
about nationalizing the tin mines the Bolivian ambassador to Wash-
ington, Victor Andrade, repeatedly assured the U.S. government that
the only nationalizations would be those of the major tin barons and

that the MNR had no intention of touching other private property.®
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the only nationalizations would be those of the major tin barons and
“that the MNR had no intention of touching other private property.™
Perhaps because U.S. economic interests were less directly affected,
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{particularly Lechin) complicit in government decisions. During this
period government officials stridently repudiaked the radicalism of
the COB as communist internationalism. In the end the MNR took
over the mines and ultimately paid the companies 27 million dollars
in compensation. Rather than with workers’ control of the mines,
the FsTMB ended up with two representatives on the Compafiia
Minera Boliviana (COM1BOL} board, but these representatives were
neither elected by nor accountable to the workers.>®

With respect to the army, while those on the Left pushed for

chaos in Bolivia and that the country “would become a focus of
Communist infection in South America.”* Once the Eisenhower
administration was satisfied that the Paz Estenssoro government
had entered into good-faith negotiations to compensate the “Big
Three,” the United States renewed its tin contract with Bolivia and
sent the country food and other types of economic aid.* In 1956,
during the administration of Siles Suazo, the United States made an
economic stabilization plan a requirement for further assistance.®
The reforms implemented proved so devastating for the work-
ing class that Lechin and his wing of the labor movement were
eventually forced to move into oppositon.** Nonetheless, the gov-
ernment managed to hold on to an alliance with peasants that was,
from the government's point of view, more successful than that
with labor.

The MNR had more success co-opting peasant groups than it did
the working class, even though rural indigenous people had a long
history of organizing to achieve their demands. Peasants’ willing-
ness to go along with the MNR probably derived from it being the
party of Villarroel, a man revered by hacienda olonos and community
members, The MNR also had moral capital with many peasants
because it was through the party that they had received land. As
Xavier Albd describes it, in the first years, “with greater or lesser
radicalism, the mobilized peasants had no doubts about the legit-
imacy of taking over the land, nor about the good intentions of the
MNR."* According to Albd, when the question of land was no
longer an issue, the MN R, determined to maintain peasant support,
had to find other means of tying rural leaders to the party. These
included various types of clientelist blandishments, with those lead-
ers most loyal to the MNR tending to receive the most for their

unions and themselves. This kind of patronage in many places even-
included various types ot clientelist blandishments, with those lead-

ers most loyal to the MNR tending to receive the most for their
unions and themselves. This kind of patronage in many places even-
tually developed into a passive dependency on the government.*
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economic stabilization plan a requirement for further assistance.?
The reforms implemented proved so devastating for the work-
ing class that Lechfn and his wing of the labor movement were
eventually forced to move into opposition.** Nonetheless, the gov-
ernment managed to hold on to an alliance with peasants that was,
from the government’s point of view, more successful than that
with labor.

The MN R had more success co-opting peasant groups than it did
the working class, even though rural indigenous people had a long







commented that “he looked a sorry sight: each time he sat down to
rest, he was unable to get up again without our help.”*

The account of another foreign traveler who visited Bolivia a few
months after the revolution gives more information on what Indians
hoped to accomplish when they lined up at the Ministry of Peasant
Affairs. Lilo Linke, 2 German woman who lived in Ecuador and
wrote extensively about her travels in Latin America and elsewhere,
arrived in Bolivia in August 1952. Linke spent considerable time in
the Ministry of Peasant Affairs listening to people’s petitions and
observing the actions of the staff. The complaints varied: physical
abuse of rolonos by hacendados, theft of peasant property by land-
ownets or their employees, unpaid salaries to rural workers, and
even a petition from Joaquin Ronquillo, autoridad indfgena of the
Hacienda Huancayo, demanding that the owner of the hacienda be
forced to abolish serviude and all unpaid services.* In many cases
the ministry employees dispatched orders to local authorites to
force the landowners to return land or animals or to cease the abuse
of which they were accused. Although the agrarian reform had not
yet become law, peasants clearly believed the M N r on their side and
were using the mechanisms newly available to them to redress griev-
ances.” From the landowners' point of view the Indians Guevara
and Calica met were nowhere close to passive. At the ministry one
landowner who had been called in to discuss a complaint said con-
descendingly to an official, “If you think you are going to arrive atan
understanding with these people, you are mistaken.” When she was
told by the official to go back to the hacienda and immediately
return the property she had taken from the colonos, the woman re-
torted: “But 'm not going back and neither is my husband. The
Indians have threatened to kill us.”*

Linke was aware of the potential threat to the elite posed by an
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Indians have threatened to kill us.”*
Linke was aware of the potental threat to the elite posed by an
agrarian reform and full citzenship rights for Bolivia’s indigenous
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arrived in Bolivia in August 1952. Linke spent considerable time in
the Ministry of Peasant Affairs listening to people’s petitions and
observing the actions of the staff. The complaints varied: physical
abuse of rolonos by hacendados, theft of peasant property by land-
owners or their employees, unpaid salaries to rural workers, and
even a petition from Joaquin Ronquillo, autoridad indfgena of the
Hacienda Huancayo, demanding that the owner of the hacienda be
forced to abolish serviude and all unpaid services.* In many cases
the ministry employees dispatched orders to local authorites to
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More than 60 percent of Bolivians were Indian. Once they considered
themselves as good as the white minority, would anyone be able to
contain them?’

Here Linke very perceptively caprures the same ambivalence about
the revolution on the part of white Bolivians that Guevara had ob-
served. In fact, many in the upper class supported the conservatives
inthe MNR, assuming that they would promote a mild nationalism,
which included nationalizing the biggest tin mines, while prevent-
ing more fundamental social change.

Several times in his account Guevara refers to the organized mine
workers as the radical wing of the revolution who, as long as they
were armed, posed a potendal threat to this more conservative lead-
ership. While they were in Bolivia a local doctor arranged for Gue-
vara and Ferrer to work in the medical facility of a tin mining camp.
Yet they ultimately decided they were not interested enough in stay-
ing in Bolivia to spend two months working there. Had he taken the
job, Guevara might have had an understanding of the social and
political processes underway in the country that could have served
him well in his later career as a revolutionary. Instead of going to
work in the mines he and Calica settled for an overnight trip to a
Wolfram mine not in operation the day they visited because the
miners were in La Paz for the inauguration of the agrarian reform.*
So they visited a mine that was not functioning and also missed the
official ceremonies for the second most important reform of the
revolution.

Linke did not work in a mining camp either during her stay in
Bolivia, but she did spend a lot of time in mines, seeing the under-
ground work, talking to miners about their living conditions and
health, and meeting with union delegates and company officials.
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ground work, talking to miners about their living conditions and
health, and meeting with union delegates and company officials.
During her time there the mines had not yet been nationalized, but

the MN R and the union movement had enough power already that
1 the MNR, assuming that they would promete a mild nationalism,

which included nationalizing the biggest tin mines, while prevent-
ing more fundamental social change.

Several times in his account Guevara refers to the organized mine
workers as the radical wing of the revolution who, as long as they
were armed, posed a potendal threat to this more conservative lead-
ership. While they were in Bolivia a local doctor arranged for Gue-
vara and Ferrer to work in the medical facility of a tin mining camp.
Yet they ultimately decided they were not interested enough in stay-
ing in Bolivia to spend two monthe workino there Had he talram rhe




and fifteen thousand feet above sea level. The cold, the wind, the
lack of natural vegetation, and the squalor of the workers' housing
that lacked minimal amenities made mining communities for Linke
among the least inviting places imaginable.*

As she walked around the company housing at Llallagua, the
mine company representative pointed out that the company cleaned
the unpaved sireets every day. He commented that if it did not the
streets would prove intolerable. “The people don't have any sense of
hygiene. They are too lazy even to use the latrines.”*® A little later
Linke entered a house that had originally been built for a single
man, The young man living there told her of four of them actually
using the house, which only had two beds, a wash basin, and a rope
suspended from the ceiling from which they hung their clothes. He
explained that “the latrine is joo yards away. At night it is too
terribly cold to go that far so we try to avoid it if at all possible.”®
She saw other workers and their families crowded into one room in
which the company had only recently replaced a dirt floor with a
wooden one. These hovels had no water, and people had to wait at
the neighborhood spigot in the middle of the day because it was the
only time the water pipes were not frozen.

Linke also saw underground working conditions firsthand in
many mines, including at the Compafiia Huanchaca de Bolivia at
Pulacayo, reportedly the hottest mine in the world with temperatures
sometimes reaching 140 degrees Fahrenheit. In Pulacayo she studied
statistics on the number of injuries each month and, as in other
mines, saw evidence of silicosis and tuberculosis {TB) that disabled
most miners after short underground careers. At the ime she was in
Bolivia most of the workforce inside the mines was between twenty
and thirry years of age. A mine administrator at Pulacayo told Linke

that after eight years on the job miners could get an indemnity for
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and thirty years of age. A mine administrator at Pulacayo told Linke
that after eight years on the job miners could get an indemnity for
voluntary retirement, further commenting that if they even lasted
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streets would prove intolerable. “The people don’t have any sense of
hygiene. They are too lazy even to use the latrines.”* A little later
Linke entered a house that had originally been built for a single
man, The young man living there told her of four of them actually
using the house, which only had two beds, a wash basin, and a rope
suspended from the ceiling from which they hung their clothes. He
explained that “the latrine is joo yards away. At night it is too
terribly cold to go that far so we try to avoid it if at all possible.”s
She saw other workers and their families crowded into one room in

o~

tion, at the company hospital in Pulacayo Linke saw the kind of
place that Guevara and Ferrer might have worked in had they ac-
cepted employment. The hospital’s doctor reported that workers did
not have periodic medical checkups nor wanted them because, if
they were found to have ma! de minas (mine sickness), the com-
pany discharged them with a tiny pension insufficient to live on.
He also claimed that the hospital only treated the least serious cases
of TB (TB was more common in Pulacayo than silicosis). More
severely ill patients were, according to law, released from the hospi-
tal, but the doctor did not know what happened to them since no
provision for their treatment was made and Bolivia had no tuber-
culosis hospitals 3

Pulacayo of course was the place where the famous working-
class program, the “Tes{s de Pulacayo,” had been drafted in 1946.
During her stay Linke attended union meetings and learned about
working-class life. She reported that many of the miners there and
in other mines had come from the countryside, where they had been
hacienda colonos or had had access to small plots of land.** This
information shows a connection between peasants and workers that
Guevara did not recognize, seeing the miners as militant proletar-
ians and the peasants as indigenous people unable to defend them-
selves. The MNR government likewise sought to deny or obscure
the similarity of background and interests of peasants and workers.

At union meetings Linke heard a sampling of rank-and-file min-
ers’ grievances and their demands for nationalization. There were
complaints about mine safety and the company’s unwillingness to
spend money on security measures. Workers felt particularly out-
raged that the mining administration always blamed supposedly
inattentive or lazy workers for accidents. Linke also heard from

union miners that no one whn warlkad incida tha,minan deare bis
raged that the mining administration always blamed supposedly

inattentive or lazy workers for accidents, Linke also heard from
union miners that no one who worked inside the mines kept his

health for more than two years, far short of the eight needed for the
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of TB (TB was more common in Pulacayo than silicosis). More
severely ill patients were, according to law, released from the hospi-
tal, but the doctor did not know what happened to them since no
provision for their treatment was made and Bolivia had no tuber-
culosis hospitals 3

Pulacayo of course was the place where the famous working-
class program, the “Tes{s de Pulacayo,” had been drafted in 1946.
During her stay Linke artended union meetings and learned about
working-class iife. She reported that many of the miners there and




One said: “Nadonalization will bring progress to Bolivia, which has
for so long been exploited by Yankee capitalists. . . . The companies
weren't interested in anything except taking our riches out of the
country. For us the mines are everything, they mean progress, frater-
nal cooperation, schools for our children.”* The workers at the
meeting uniformly opposed the compensation of mining compa-
nies for the nadonalization, The common position was articulared
by “an indigenous miner” who asked the group: “Do you think
compensation is reasonable? The foreign companies have exploited
our riches for many years. It’s true that they brought the machinery,
but now it's old and the companies have made so much money that
the equipment has paid for itself at least three imes over. So why is
the Bolivian government going to compensate them? Bolivia is poor
while the companies have gotten rich,”*’

Although Guevara was told about the militant miners by people
he met in Bolivia, he had no personal experience with them. We
cannot know if living in a mining camp would have changed his
ideas about the possible strategy for a revolutionary movement in
Bolivia or made him hesitate befote planning a guerrilla movement
that had no real contact with workers or working-class parties, but it
might have. In any event, Guevara left Bolivia for Peru after he had
traveled there for a little over a month. According to Rojo, he, Ferrer,
and Guevara went to Peru by truck.*® Turning down the more com-
fortable possibility of riding in the truck’s cab with the driver (what
the ticket agent called “Panagra class”),* they piled into the back
with indigenous peasants. Rojo described the experience this way:
“The trip was an indispensable step in our education about Indian
America. We entered a hostile world and were trapped between
bundles and people who looked like bundles. Silence. Bruising jolts

and silence. We discovered that it was impossible to try and show
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bundles and people who looked like bundles. Silence. Bruising jolts
~and silence. We discovered that it was impossible to try and show
the sympathy we felt before those scrutinizing, metallic eyes, those
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by “an indigenous miner” who asked the group: “Do you think
compensation is reasonable? The foreign companies have exploited
our riches for many years. It’s true that they brought the machinery,
but now it's old and the companies have made so much money that
the equipment has paid for itself at least three imes over. So why is
the Bolivian government going to compensate them? Bolivia is poor
while the companies have gotten rich,”*’

Although Guevara was told about the militant miners by people
he met in Bolivia, he had no personal experience with them. We

jolted out of Bolivia they may have learned a lesson, as Rojo main-
tains, but the lesson was not followed up with further education.

Alicia Ortiz, another Argentine visiror ro Bolivia after the revolu-
tion, was a literary essayist and travel writer. She came to the country
in late 1952 with a lot more illusions than Guevara about the revolu-
tionary potential of the MNR. In July 1953, when she finished her
book, Amanecer en Bolivia, she still believed that Paz Estenssoro, Siles
Suazo, and other leaders had “a clear notion of justice and patriotic
enthusiasm [and] were proposing to end the backwardness of the
exploited Indians and the country's situation as a semicolonial,
monoproducer.”* Like Guevara, Ortiz was not above repeating
stereotypes about Indians or romantcizing them. On the fishermen
at Lake Titicaca she rhapsodized: “How interesting it would be to
see those fishermen up close! To observe the indigenous race in its
ancient tasks . . . would be like a glimpse of the most elemental
forms of life in the Inca empire.”** Yet Ortiz also actually got outand
taiked to people, and when she did, she gave concrete information
about workers’ and peasants’ lives and demands, the splits in the
MNR, the compromises the government was making, and other
polidcal groups in the country.

At various times during her trip Ortiz and her accompanying
daughter had experiences similar to Guevara’s and Ricardo Rojo's in
the back of the truck. She remarked on how everyone seemed to be
on the move, “With children and innumerable packages they travel
by train or by truck, where they risk falling off while balanced on top
of their bundles. [They are] exposed to the cold and snow in the
mountains, the burning sun, the lukewarm mist in tropical zones.
[These travelers] are dedicated to commerce. They bring bananas
from the Yungas [tropical valleys near the city of La Paz) to exchange

for chufio [freeze-dried potatoes] from the high olatean."®? Ortiz
[These travelers] are dedicated to commerce. They bring bananas

from the Yungas [tropical valleys near the city of La Paz] to exchange
for chufio [freeze-dried potatoes] from the high plateaw.”** Ortiz

did not seem to know that the elaborate ttade she saw in Bolivia was
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Suazo, and other leaders had “a clear notion of justice and patriotic
enthusiasm [and) were proposing to end the backwardness of the
exploited Indians and the country’s situation as a semicolonial,
monoproducer.”* Like Guevara, Ortiz was not above repeating
stereotypes about Indians or romantcizing them. On the fishermen
at Lake Titicaca she rhapsodized: “How interesting it would be to
see those fishermen up close! To observe the indigenous race in its
ancient tasks . . . would be like a glimpse of the most elemental
forms of life in the Inca empire."** Yet Ortiz also actually got outand




one can really “be dazzled by the multicolored hues of 4 strange
race, be blinded by the pollera [multi-layered skirt worn by urban
indigenous women], . . . the striped poncho, the quena [reed flute),
or the charango [small guitar, sometimes made out of the shell of
an armadillo] when confronted with the g'epiri [indigenous person
who carries burdens for people on the streets of La Paz] who disap-
pears underneath the weight and size of the load tied to his curved
back. ... Who can feel the pleasure and the color of the landscape in
the presence of this woman who with effort ascends the steep alley-
way with a three-year-old child on her back and who says to you
in passing ‘I get tired becauwse [ have heart problems’? And who
can find it amusing and entertaining to learn that the child isn't
walking only because his legs are not sufficiently calcified and the
mother only still has three of the nine children she brought into the
world?7*

During her stay in Bolivia there was much agitaton for the agrar-
ian reform, which was finally promulgated in August of 195 3. Visit-
ing rural Sorata, Ortiz had the opportunity to talk with an agricul-
tural colono about the situation and his efforts for the reform. The
man said “Ojald [I hope] that it becomes reality, all of us colonos want
it. God should enlighten our tata Presidente [father in Quechua, used
affectionately).” When she asks what benefits he expects from the
reform, the man answers: “Now we are in bad shape. I work with
my family in the fields every day. But that doesn’t do us much good
because I bave to hand over to the landowner a large part of the
harvest. Besides, two days a week T have to work for the patrén, either
in the countryside or in his house in La Paz, Is this fair? I scarcely am
able to eat some potatoes and corn, everything else is taken by the
landowner. . . . It’s not fair that such beautiful fields are in the hands

of an owner who doesn’t love them, who only wants to benefit at the
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landowner. . .. It’s not fair that such beautiful fields are in the hands
of an owner who doesn’t love them, who only wants to benefit at the

expense of other people’s labor.”®
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back. ... Wbo can feel the pleasure and the color of the landscape in
the presence of this woman who with effort ascends the steep alley-
way with a three-year-old child on her back and who says to you
in passing ‘1 get tired becauwse [ have heart problems’? And who
can find it amusing and entertaining to learn that the child isn't
walking only because his legs are not sufficiently calcified and the
mother only still has three of the nine children she brought into the
world?7*

During her stay in Bolivia there was much agitation for the agrar-

used in a failed coup against the government that had occurred on 6
Januvary. His colonos had observed the hacendado’s actions and had
taken turns watching his house to report any attempts to distribute
them. One of the colonos explained of the landowner, “What is hurt-
ing him the most is the agrarian reform. He's fighting against it and
that’s why he is our enemy.”** '

Ortiz was in La Paz when the attempted coup took place and
joined the people who filled the plaza outside the presidential palace
to defend the government. Truckloads of miners atrived from out-
side La Paz, and Ortiz and her daugbrer found themselves sur-
rounded by armed workers. While they were standing cheek tojowl
with thousands of people, leaflets were dropped on the crowd by the
golpistas organizing the coup. The leaflets explained that those sup-
porting the coup were “not against Paz Estenssoro but opposed to
the communists in the government.”®” According to Ortiz, the mass
of people turned furiously on the person who threw the leaflets, an
elegant upper-class woman who Ortiz said would have been lynched
had soldiers not protected her. The assembled multitude listened to
speeches by Paz Estenssoro and Lechin, but when came the turn of
Sergio Almaraz, a representative of the Communist Party, to speak,
the microphone went dead and Paz Estenssoro disappeared from
the balcony. Furthermore, Ortiz reported that elements of the MN R
right wing who had been involved in the coup received a generous
amnesty. She seemed to believe that this was a proper conciliatory
gesture and that the rightists in the MN & were only disoriented and
still in favor of “national liberation.”*® Nonetheless, she saw for
herself and reported on the M~ R’s political opportunism that Gue-
vara had learned about secondhand.

At the MNR’s national convention in February 1953 there was

more evidence that the party was moving to the right and trvine rn
vara had learned about secondhand.

At the MNR’s national convention in February 1953 there was
more evidence that the party was moving to the right and trying to
conwol more radical elements. According to Ortiz, at that event the
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joined the people who filled the plaza outside the presidential palace
to defend the government. Truckloads of miners artived from our-
side La Paz, and Ortiz and her daugbter found themselves sur-
rounded by armed workers. While they were standing cheek tojowl
with thousands of people, leaflets were dropped on the crowd by the
golpistas organizing the coup. The leaflets explained that those sup-
porting the coup were “not against Paz Estenssoro but opposed to
the communists in the government.”®” According to Ortiz, the mass
of people turned furiously on the person who threw the leaflets, an
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